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ACTIVITIES

BEFORE READING

1 Fay Friend works on The Friends' Hour
 radio show. Here are some more people in the story Studio Five
 . Who are they? Match the sentences with the pictures.


a
 Jason Hill
 is Fay's boss at Sun Radio.

He isn't very nice to her.


b
 Young Simon Jones
 calls Fay, and speaks to her on The Friends
 ' Hour
 .


c
 Margaret Jones
 is Simon's mother.

She calls Sun Radio and wants to speak to Fay.


d
 Wing Cheung
 works with Fay on The Friends
 ' Hour
 and is her friend.
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Fay Friend



[image: alt]


2 Who says this in Chapter 1?
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Chapter 1　Two Callers and a Photo


第一章　两位来电者与一张照片

'Four-three-two-one, on air.' I hear this every day before my show
 begins. Usually I'm in Studio Five. I make my show there.

Music plays and then I say, 'My name's Fay Friend and this is The Friends' Hour
 .' My show is on Sun Radio. It's on three times a week, Wednesday, Thursday and Saturday. A lot of the time I'm in Studio Five. I play the music and talk in between it. I love talking to the people on my show. Sometimes they want music. Sometimes they want to talk to someone.

When I'm not in Studio Five, I'm in my office. I was in my office one Thursday morning in November when I got an email from my boss. His name's Jason Hill. His office is next to my office. Jason doesn't like talking. He likes email.

'The Friends' Hour
 isn't interesting,' he wrote in his email to me. 'Nobody's listening to the show. You need to find something new. You need to think of something soon! I want to meet you next Monday for a talk.' I was very angry. The show was good, I thought. But I had four days to think of something new. Two months ago Jason was my friend. Now he's always angry with me.
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'This is The Friends' Hour.'


My show begins at 11.00 in the morning. It finishes at 12.00. The weather comes after it. The time was 11.55. I put on some music. Then I called Wing. Wing Cheung works with me. He answers the phone. He also helps me to make the show. Wing is a big help. My mother died in May. Wing really helped me then too. I was very sad about mum. I didn't eat, I didn't talk and I didn't work for days after she died. Wing was nice to me about mum. He helped me at work, too. He's a very good friend.

'Wing, are there any more phone calls?'

'Fay, there's one more call for you. But make it quick.' Wing always watches the time. I always forget.

'OK,' I said. 'Is it an easy call?'

'No, it isn't.' The music finished. The next caller waited.

'There's time for one more call before the show finishes,' I said. 'Caller, what's your name? Where are you from?' After a second, the caller spoke.

'Hi Fay, Erm... I'm Simon, Simon Jones. This is for my mother. She likes your show, I know. I-I left home ten months ago. I don't want to see her, but I'm fine... I'm well, I mean. I'm not far away, but I'm not coming home. I must go now.' Simon was angry and very sad. Families aren't always easy, I thought. My mother and my father were dead. I felt sad about that.

'Simon, are you there? Hello?' I said, but Simon wasn't on the phone now. I finished the show with some more music. The weather began at 12.00.

After the show, I thought about Simon Jones again. He wasn't happy at all. In the afternoon I worked on the show for the next day. I didn't understand Jason. The Friends' Hour
 was good, I thought, but he didn't like it. What did he want? What could I do to please him? I didn't know. I drank a lot of coffee. Nothing came to me. At 4.00 Wing ran into my office.
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At 4.00 Wing ran into my office.


'Wing! I'm working.' I was angry again. I thought about Jason's email.

'Sorry, Fay, but I had a call about today's show.'

'Was it Jason again? What does he want now?'

'No, it wasn't Jason. It was a woman. Margaret Jones is her name. She's Simon's mother.'

'What does she want?' I asked.

'She wants your help, I think,' said Wing. 'She gave me her home phone number, and her house number, and the street...'

'Look Wing, how can I help her?' I said angrily. Wing went back to his office.

Then I thought about my mother and father again. My father died fourteen years ago. I was eleven at the time. He was a police officer. My mother always wanted me to be a police officer too. But I wanted to work for the radio. When I began working for Sun Radio, Mum and I didn't speak for two years. Then she died. That was six months ago. I felt really bad because we didn't talk. But perhaps I could help Mrs Jones...?

But no, I really had no time for that. I had only four days to think of something new for my show. I tried to work again. After five minutes I looked at my computer. There was one more angry email on it from Jason. That was it! I went to Wing's office.

'Where does the Jones family live?' I asked. He told me the name of the street and the house number. I left Sun Radio and ran to the underground
 station. I needed to talk to Mrs Jones.
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At 5.15 I was at Piccadilly Circus. Piccadilly Circus is the nearest station to Sun Radio. Margaret Jones's house was near Finchley Road station. After about twenty minutes I arrived at Finchley Road.

I left the station and ran past all the people in the street. No time to smile. No time to talk. I thought about Simon. 'Where is he? Why is he unhappy?'

I walked past a supermarket, coffee shops, and some offices. After five minutes I arrived at South Road. Mrs Jones lived at number twenty-six. South Road was a street with lots of big red houses on it, and one little shop – number twenty. I saw the name – 'Khan's One Stop Shop' – over the door.
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I arrived at South Road.


Suddenly I felt thirsty. It was all that coffee earlier in the studio! I needed some water. I went into the shop. It had many different things in it: things to read, things to eat and things to drink. I found some water, and I gave the money to the man in the shop. Then I walked to the door. There I stopped. I saw something on the back of the door. It was a photo of a young man. Under the photo I read, 'Where is Simon Jones?' And under that question there was a phone number to call. I had lots of questions about Simon, and I needed some answers fast. Perhaps the man in the shop could help me?




show
 n.
 you watch or listen to this on TV or radio （广播或电视）节目



underground
 n.
 a train that goes under streets and buildings 地铁






ACTIVITIES

READING CHECK

Complete the sentences with the correct names.
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Wing
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Jason
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Fay
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Simon




a
 　Wing
 　
 is Fay's good friend.


b
 _________ is angry with Fay.


c
 Fay works with _________ and _________ in Studio Five.


d
 _________ likes emails, not talking to people.


e
 _________ calls Fay's show after 10 months away from home.


f
 _________'s father was a police officer.


g
 _________'s mother and father are dead.


h
 _________ doesn't want to go home.


i
 _________ helped Fay when she felt very bad in May.

WORD WORK

1 Use the words in the coffee cup to complete these sentences.
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a
 I want to be a 　police officer
 　
 when I leave school.


b
 'Can you speak Arabic?'

'Not very well, but I'm _________ to learn it.'


c
 'Are we _________ _________ now?'

'Yes, we are. So what do you want to say to all our listeners?'


d
 Paddington is one of the bigger and more important train _________ in London.


e
 To get from A to B in London, go by _________. There's not much to see down there, but it's very quick.


f
 We felt very _________ when our daughter left home.

2 Use words from Chapter 1 to complete Jason's second email to Fay.
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GUESS WHAT

What do we learn about Simon in the next chapter? Tick four boxes.


a
 He worked in Khan's One-Stop Shop.

□


b
 He helped his mother a lot when she went through bad times.

□


c
 He's in love with a beautiful young woman from Pakistan.

□


d
 He was angry with his mother before he left home.

□


e
 He loves everything about trains.

□


f
 He's visiting Europe by train now.

□
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Chapter 2　A Card and a Train


第二章　卡片与火车

'Are you Mr Khan?' I asked the man in the shop.
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'Are you Mr Khan?'


'Yes, I am,' he said.

'Do you know the man in this photo?'

'Yes, I do. He lived in South Road. He worked here for two years. He was a good worker.'

'When did he leave?'

'Erm... in January, I think,' said Mr Khan. 'I told Simon, "You must move to a different shop now." I have six shops in London, and I need good workers in all of them, you see. But Simon said "no". He wanted to work near home because he needed the money. He loved trains, you know. He wanted to visit Europe by train. I didn't see him often after that. But I told the police everything about Simon months ago. Who are you?'

'I'm Simon's friend,' I said. 'So why did he leave? Do you know?'

'No, I don't. He was always very friendly, always laughed a lot. Then suddenly everything changed. He was different – sadder. Perhaps something happened at home, I don't know. He was very quiet. Simon's house is near here. Number twenty-six South Road. Go and talk to his mother. She's a nice woman. She put up that photo in my shop. Simon was very good to her after his father died. He's a good boy.'

'When did Mr Jones die?' I asked.

'Three years ago, I think. Are you really Simon's friend? You don't know him very well,' Mr Khan said.

I thanked him and walked to the door again. Mr Khan went to the back of the shop and made a telephone call. He couldn't see me. I took the photo of Simon from the back of the door and put it in my bag. Then I went quickly to twenty-six South Road. I needed to talk to Mrs Jones.

A woman opened the front door. She had grey hair.

'Hi, I'm Fay Friend,' I said. 'I work for Sun Radio. You telephoned my studio this afternoon. Can we talk about Simon?'

'You came. That's wonderful. Thank you. Please come in.' Mrs Jones took me to the living room. She made tea and sat down next to me.

'On the phone you asked for my help,' I said.

'That's right.' Mrs Jones put her head in her hands. She was very sad.

'I must find Simon,' she said.

'What can I do? I'm not a detective,' I thought.

'You can help me, I know. Please say "yes" Fay,' she cried. I thought of my family again. I really wanted to help her.

'OK,' I said. I took Mrs Jones's hand. 'Tell me everything. Why did Simon leave?'

Mrs Jones looked up into my eyes and told me her story.

'Our family was happy for many years. Then my husband, Peter, died. It was a bad time for Simon and for me. I was very sad. But Simon really helped me when everything was black. Then something terrible
 happened...' Mrs Jones cried again.

'What?' I asked.

'Ten months ago Simon found some old letters. They were from my old boyfriend, Geoff. My husband, Peter, wasn't Simon's real father, you see. Geoff was Simon's father but he left me only a month or two before Simon was born. He didn't want children. Then I met Peter. He was very good to me and we fell in love. Soon after that, Peter married me. He was a good husband and a good father to Simon. But Simon never knew the true story. After he found Geoff's letters, he was very angry with me. We didn't talk for two days. Then Simon left home. That was ten months ago now. Where is he now? I have no idea. But I can't live without him!'

I looked at Mrs Jones, and thought of my mother.

'I'm going to help you,' I said. But what could I do? My father was a police officer, but I work on a radio show. I didn't have any answers, but I knew Mrs Jones needed me.

'Thank you very much, Fay. Now look at this. Two months ago, on the 21st of September, I was fifty. I got this card on my birthday.' Mrs Jones gave a card in an envelope
 to me. There was a picture of red flowers on the card. I opened it and read it:


Dear Mum, I'm fine. Don't worry! love, Simon


Now I had the phone call, the photo from Mr Khan's shop, and the card to help me. But I needed to understand Simon better.

'Mrs Jones, can I see Simon's room before I go?' I asked.

'Yes, of course. I didn't move a thing when he left.'

Mrs Jones took me upstairs and opened the door of Simon's bedroom. I wanted to learn more about him. The room was very tidy
 – with a bed, a table, a chair and a computer in it. On the table I found some train tickets and a model
 train. I remembered my talk with Ahmed Khan. Simon loved trains. I looked at the computer, and I read Simon's emails – but they didn't help. What could I do next? I didn't know. I thanked Mrs Jones and left South Road. I needed to think. I went back to the Sun Radio building.
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Simon loved trains.





terrible
 adj.
 very bad 糟透的



envelope
 n.
 a paper cover that you put in a letter 信封



worry
 v.
 to be unhappy about something and to think about it all the time 担心



tidy
 adj.
 with everything carefully where it is right to be 整洁的



model
 n.
 little buildings, trains, cars, ships or planes that children make and then play with 模型






ACTIVITIES

READING CHECK

Correct the mistakes in these sentences.


a
 Jason
 (Simon
 ) worked with Mr Khan in the past.


b
 Mr Khan has one shop in London.


c
 Mr Khan put up the photo of Simon in the shop.


d
 Simon found letters from Mrs Jones's old teacher.


e
 Peter was Simon's true father.


f
 Simon felt happy when he learned about Geoff.


g
 Simon left home long after that.


h
 Mrs Jones got a card from Geoff on her 50th birthday.


i
 Fay finds some plane tickets on the table in Simon's room.
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WORD WORK

Use the words from the train in the correct form to complete the sentences below.
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a
 He really can't play the guitar and he's a 　terrible
 　
 singer, too.


b
 Do you like my new _________ of 'The Titanic'? I made it yesterday.


c
 She isn't my _________ sister. She's the daughter of my mother's second husband.


d
 Their room isn't very _________. They leave their things everywhere.


e
 I'd like a 'Get Well' _________ for my grandmother, please. She's ill in hospital.


f
 He'll be eighteen next month. It's his _________ on the twelfth.


g
 What a good _________! Let's go to the cinema.


h
 She took the letter from her boyfriend out of its _________ and read it quickly.


i
 Many mothers and fathers _________ when their children come home late.


j
 I met my girlfriend last year in Italy and we _________ _________ _________ at once.


k
 Jane looked beautiful in her white dress when she _________ Frank in the village church on Saturday.

GUESS WHAT

What happens in the next chapter? Tick the boxes.
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1
 Wing...


a
 ... goes for a walk with Simon.

□


b
 ... opens the Sun Radio door again for Fay.

□


c
 ... smokes a cigarette with Jason.

□
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2
 Fay...


a
 ... writes a letter to Mrs Jones.

□


b
 ... has dinner with Wing.

□


c
 ... takes something from Jason's office.

□
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3
 Jason...


a
 ... asks Fay out for dinner.

□


b
 ... speaks to Simon.

□


c
 ... gives Fay more time to find new ideas for her show.

□



Chapter 3　Can the CD Help?


第三章　CD能帮上忙吗？

I arrived back at Sun Radio at 6.30. I opened my bag but I couldn't find my keys in it. So I found my phone and called Wing. It was late but perhaps he was at work.

'Hello, Studio Five. Wing Cheung here,' Wing answered.

'Wonderful! You're there,' I said.

'You forgot your keys again, Fay. So I waited for you.'

'Thanks, Wing. Can you let me in?' Wing opened the door for me. I went up to my office in Studio Five and sat down.

'Thanks for waiting. I'm sorry about the keys,' I said, and smiled at Wing. 'He's a true friend,' I thought. Sometimes I thought about Wing and me. I didn't have a boyfriend, and I really liked being with Wing. I didn't tell him all that, of course. I didn't want to lose a good friend.

'I've got some bad news, Fay,' said Wing. 'You've got one more email from the boss. Jason isn't happy with today's show.'

Suddenly the phone in my office rang. It was Jason. I felt ill. I was back in Sun Radio, and he knew it. He wanted to talk to me. I walked slowly to his office.

'Good evening. Nice to have you back with us,' he said. He had a smile on his face but he was angry, I knew. 'Do you remember my email this morning?' he asked.

'Yes, of course,' I said. 'You want new ideas for the show. I'm working on it.'

'Fay, this is important. No ideas – no show, and no show – no job. Think about it! I listened to today's show. You really have a lot of work to do.' I saw the CD of today's show on his desk.

'I'm going to finish working on some new ideas tomorrow,' I said.

'Perhaps you want to move to Studio Ten?' he laughed. The people in Studio Ten make early morning shows. 'In Studio Ten, they get up at four in the morning every day, you know.' Jason didn't like Studio Ten because he didn't like early mornings.

Jason opened the window. He had a cigarette in his hand. He sat back in his chair and smoked. His feet were on the desk.

[image: alt]



He sat back in his chair and smoked.


'Do you need more time, Fay?' he asked.

'Of course I need more time,' I said. 'I've got only three days.'

'So have dinner with me tonight. Let's have a nice evening out. Then I can easily give you more time. I like you, Fay. You know that.'

'Oh, now I see,' I said. 'Well, the answer is "no"! I don't need more time. Monday is OK for me. And now, excuse me. I'm going.' I ran out of Jason's office, closed the door behind me, and then I cried. I couldn't stop. I walked back into Studio Five, but Wing saw my face.

'What's the matter, Fay?' Wing put his hand on my arm.

'Jason's really angry with me,' I said. 'I need to do a lot of work on the show before Monday.' Then I told Wing about my visit to South Road.

'You feel bad about your mum, Fay. But you can't really help Mrs Jones. You're not a detective. And what about the show?' said Wing.

He took my hand in his hand. 'I need –' he began. Then his face was suddenly red.

'What?' I asked.

'Oh, it's nothing,' he said, and he moved away.

'Wing, Mrs Jones needs help,' I said, 'and I need to help her. I'm sorry, but I'm going to think about the show tomorrow.'

'OK!' said Wing. 'But you can't do all this detective work alone
 . I can help you.'

'Thank you,' I said quietly.

'So let's think,' said Wing. 'Simon left in January. Then he sent a card to his mum in September. Is that right?'

'Yes. And he likes trains, too.'

'Right. Let's listen to today's show again,' said Wing. 'Perhaps we didn't hear something important in Simon's call.'

'The CD's in Jason's office,' I said. We went to Jason's office. But he wasn't there, and the door was locked.

'It's no good. We can't get in,' said Wing. 'Perhaps tomorrow –'

'This can't wait!' I said. Then I had an idea. I ran back to my office, and I took off my shoes. Then I stood on my desk and opened my office window.

Wing came after me.

'What are you doing?' he asked.

'Jason's office window is open. I can climb
 out here and get into his office through the open window.'

'What?! It's not safe. We're five floors up!'

'Don't worry,' I said. I put my head out of the window. Then I climbed out and stood on the window ledge
 . It was very cold out there. I looked down. I saw cars far down in the street. They were no bigger than model cars. I didn't look down again. I didn't want to fall. Then I thought of Simon and of my family. Suddenly I moved quickly along the ledge.
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I moved along the ledge


'Be careful!' said Wing. I nearly fell through the window into Jason's office. There I took the CD from his desk and opened the office door. Wing was happy to see me back safely.

'Fay,' he said. 'You're crazy!'

'I know,' I said. I felt really excited. We went into Studio Five, and we listened to Simon's call very carefully.




alone
 adv.
 with nobody 独自



climb
 v.
 to go up, down, or through something using your hands and feet 攀爬



ledge
 n.
 a long flat stone under a window 窗台，窗沿






ACTIVITIES

READING CHECK

Choose the correct words to complete these sentences.


a
 Wing/Fay

 　forgets　his/her

 　keys.


b
 Jason/Wing
 opens the door for Fay.


c
 Jason　likes/doesn't like
 　Studio Ten.


d
 Jason/Wing
 　asks Fay out for dinner.


e
 Fay really　wants/doesn't want
 　to go out with him.


f
 Jason/Wing
 　helps Fay with her detective work.


g
 Wing/Fay
 　gets into Jason's office through the window.

WORD WORK

1 Find ten more words from Chapter 3 in the CD.

[image: alt]


2 Use the words from Activity 1 to complete the sentences.


a
 Fay likes her 　job
 　
 at Studio Five a lot. She loves working there.


b
 She can't find her _______, so Wing must open the door for her.


c
 She can't find Simon _________, but Wing can work with her and help her.


d
 The _________ of today's show is in Jason's office, on his _________.


e
 Jason is going home, and the door to his office is _________.


f
 First Fay _________ out of her window.


g
 'That's not _________,' says Wing. 'Be careful!'


h
 Studio Five is on the fifth _________ of the Sun Radio building.


i
 Then Fay stands on the window _________ and looks down.


j
 She doesn't want to _________ down to the street.


k
 'You're _________,' says Wing when Fay comes back through the window.

GUESS WHAT

What happens to Fay in the next chapter? Tick three boxes.


a
 She goes to Paddington station.

□


b
 She loses her bag.

□


c
 She finds Simon.

□


d
 She meets an old friend.

□


e
 She goes to a card shop.

□


f
 She falls under a train.

□

[image: alt]




Chapter 4　The Card Shop at the Station


第四章　地铁站的贺卡商店

'Wing, it's no good,' I said. 'I don't want to listen to that CD again. Not after five times. There's nothing there. I must tell Mrs Jones tomorrow. I can't help her any more.'

'Wait!' said Wing, 'I've got an idea. We're listening to the wrong things. We need to listen one more time. But I need the computer for that.' So he played the CD on the computer. This time we heard different noises in the background. These noises were very quiet before. But on the computer we could hear them easily. First we heard people's voices in the background. Then we heard the sound of coins.

'Perhaps Simon called us from a phone box,' said Wing. 'That doesn't help us much. How many phone boxes are there in London?' I said.

'Shh! Listen to this,' said Wing. Now we heard a new voice in the background.

'This is a platform
 change. The 11.45 to Oxford is now leaving from platform 6.'

'Simon was at a train station!' said Wing. He was very happy.

'You're right,' I said. 'And it was a train to Oxford. Perhaps it's a London station!'

I looked on the Internet. Trains to Oxford leave London from Paddington Station. Then I had an idea. I took Mrs Jones's card from my bag and looked carefully at the envelope. The postcode
 on the date stamp
 was W2 25. I looked on the Internet again. Simon sent the card from Paddington Station! The name of a shop was on the back of the card, too. It was Cards 4U. I knew that name. There was a Cards 4U shop in Piccadilly Circus underground station.

'Perhaps there's a shop at Paddington, too,' I thought. 'And perhaps Simon works there.' I took the card and the photo of Simon and I put them in my bag.

'I'm going to find Simon,' I told Wing. 'He's at Paddington, I think.'

'Good luck, Fay!' said Wing with a smile. 'Don't worry about me,' he said. 'I'm going to wait here and think about changes to your show. Don't forget you're meeting Jason on Monday.'
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I arrived at Paddington underground station at about 9.30. I walked up to the train station. I saw some small shops near to the trains. Then I saw the name 'Cards 4U' over one shop window. I went quickly into the shop.

'Can I help you?' said the woman in the shop. It was late and nearly time for her to close.

'I'm not sure,' I said. 'I don't need a card. I'm looking for a friend. He works here, I think. His name's Simon.'

'There's no Simon here,' she said.
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'There's no Simon here.'


I put my bag on a table and took out the photo from Mr Khan's shop.

'My name's Fay Friend,' I said. 'Do you know this man?' I asked.

'No,' said the woman. 'He doesn't work here.'

So I was wrong.

'I'm sorry, Miss. I'm going to close now,' said the woman.

Suddenly I saw a young man in the station. He walked past the card shop. 'It's Simon!' I thought. I took the photo and ran after him. Then I got nearer to the man. It wasn't Simon. I was wrong again.

I walked away from the card shop. I didn't understand. Simon called me from Paddington Station. He bought the card from Cards 4U. But where was he? I had no idea.

For the next thirty minutes I talked to different people in the station.

'Do you know this man?' I asked. People looked at the photo. But nobody knew Simon. After thirty minutes I needed a coffee, so I went to the coffee shop in the station. I asked for a big coffee with milk.

'That's one pound seventy-five,' said the man in the coffee shop.

'Oh no!' I said. 'My bag! I left it in the card shop.'
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'My bag! I left it in the card shop.'


I ran out without my coffee. Quickly I put my hand in my coat pocket. I had only the photo, my phone and my train ticket there. My keys, my money, the card – they were all in my bag. This was very bad.

I ran to the card shop. I was hot and tired when I arrived. But the shop was closed. Then I saw the woman from the shop not far away from me in the station. I ran after her.

'Excuse me, do you have my bag? I left it in your shop, I think.'

'Don't worry,' she said. 'Your bag's safe. I left it at the Lost Property Office.'

For a minute I was happy. Then I looked at my watch. It was five past ten.

'What time does the Lost Property Office close?' I asked.

'Ten o'clock,' the woman said. 'I'm sorry. You're five minutes late. But it's OK. I told them your name. And the office opens again at nine o'clock tomorrow. Don't worry.'

I thanked the woman, but I wasn't happy. I had no money, and no keys to Sun Radio, or to my house. I felt bad about Simon, bad about the show, bad about my bag, bad about everything. How could I lose my keys twice in one day? What a terrible day! I took my train ticket from my pocket and went back to Sun Radio.
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I wasn't happy.





platform
 n.
 you get on a train in a station from this （火车站的）站台



postcode
 n.
 you write these numbers and letters on an envelope under the city 邮政编码



date stamp
 this mark on an envelope shows a postman when and from where someone sent a letter 日戳






ACTIVITIES

READING CHECK

What do they say?
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WORD WORK

1 Find words in Chapter 4 to complete the puzzle.


Across



3
 A euro is one of these.


4
 You can get lots of answers to any questions from this through computers and phones.


6
 The day someone sends a letter goes on this.


9
 You use this to talk with.


Down



1
 These letters and numbers in an address help the postman to find a house.


2
 A different word for a 'noise'.


5
 When you hear noises behind a speaker's voice on a CD, they are in the_______.


7
 One word for 'two times'.


8
 You get off a train onto this in a station.
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2 Write the coloured letters in order to find the name of an important train station in London.
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3 Use the words in activity 1 in the correct form to complete the notes in Wing's notebook.
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GUESS WHAT

What does Fay find and lose in the next chapter? Tick three boxes.


a
 She finds...


1
 her bag.

□


2
 love with her boss, Jason.

□


3
 Simon Jones.


b
 She loses...


1
 her job.

□


2
 her good friend Wing for a time.

□


3
 her train ticket.

□
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Chapter 5　Lost Property



第五章　失物招领处

I went back to Piccadilly Circus. It was 10.35 in the evening.

'Please be at work in Studio Five, Wing,' I thought. 'Then you can open the door for me again, and I can sleep on the floor in my office.'

I called Wing, but he didn't answer. Then I saw a light in Jason's office. I called his number. I didn't want to call him, but I needed help.

'Hello. Jason Hill,' he answered.

'Hi. This is Fay. Can you open the door for me?'

'Did you lose your keys again, Fay? You must be more careful,' he said.

'They're on my desk. I want to work on The Friend's Hour
 tonight,' I said. It wasn't true, but Jason opened the door for me.

'You're working late, Fay. Very good!' Jason was nicer to me now. 'He isn't a bad boss really,' I thought.
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'You're working late, Fay. Very good!'


I went into my office. I wanted to forget about the day. I was tired, hungry, and alone. Just then, Jason came in.

'What about that dinner, Fay? Don't worry. I can pay. I want to thank you for all your work on the show.' I was really tired. It was all very sudden. I couldn't think. I didn't want to be in the office, and Jason was really friendly.

'OK,' I said. 'We were good friends before,' I thought. I got my coat and put some office keys in my pocket. I needed to come back there later.

We went to a little Italian restaurant near Sun Radio. We ate well, and we drank a bottle of red wine. It was a nice evening, but it didn't feel right. 'Why is Jason doing this?' I thought. At 11.30 it was time to leave. Jason paid and we went to the door. Suddenly everything changed. He tried to kiss me.

'Stop it!' I told him.

'Fay, take it easy! I can help you,' he said. And he put his hand on my leg.

'Take your hand off me! You're crazy. I don't need your help!' I cried. I ran back to Sun Radio. Jason didn't run after me. It began to rain. I felt worse than before.
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At 8.30 the next morning I woke up in the office. I thought about the show again. I was tired and I had no ideas. It was Friday and I didn't have much time. I needed to get my bag from Paddington Station. I opened my office door and saw Jason in front of me.

'Fay, you look bad,' he said. My hair was terrible. My face was tired. 'Where are you going?' he asked.

'Out,' I said. Just then Wing arrived.

'Good morning. Terrible weather again,' said Wing.

'Fay, you must tell Wing about our wonderful evening yesterday,' said Jason. 'We had a very nice bottle of wine between the two of us.' He smiled and then went into his office.

Wing didn't say a word. But he looked at me, and his eyes were big and sad.

'You've got the wrong idea, Wing,' I said. I didn't love Jason. But I didn't have time to tell Wing that. I needed to go back to Paddington Station.

I got to the Lost Property Office there at about 9.10.

'Can I help you?' asked the man there. I told him about my bag and he asked me some questions. 'When did you lose it? Where? What colour was it? What was in it?' I answered them all.

'OK, Miss. Let's see.' He went into the back of the office and looked around. Then a young man brought my bag out to me. I looked at the photo of Simon again. 'Is this young man Simon?' I thought. But his hair was longer and it was a different colour. Slowly I walked away from the office and put the photo in my bag. Suddenly I saw something new in my bag. It was a note
 . It wasn't there when I left the bag in the card shop. It said:
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I looked at my watch. It was only 9.30. I spoke to some more people in the station. Again, they looked at the photo of Simon, but nobody knew him. I wanted to cry. I tried to call Wing, but he didn't answer.
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At 10 o'clock I went to the coffee shop. The man there smiled at me. He remembered me from the night before. I paid for a coffee and sat in a chair near the door. 'Who put that note in my bag?' I thought. 'Perhaps they know something about Simon.' I waited for ten minutes, but nobody came. I finished my coffee. I was ready to go. Then a young man came into the shop. It was the young man from the Lost Property Office.

'Are you Fay Friend?' he asked.
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'Are you Fay Friend?'


'Yes,' I answered.

'Can I sit down?'

'Of course,' I said. I looked carefully at him again, and suddenly I took the photo of Simon from my bag. His hair was different. It was longer, and it was a different colour. But the face in the photo and the young man's face were the same. I couldn't stop looking at the young man in front of me. I couldn't believe
 it. It was Simon Jones!




note
 n.
 a short letter 便条



believe
 v.
 to think that something is true 相信






ACTIVITIES

READING CHECK

Put these sentences in the correct order. Number them 1–10.


a
 Jason opens the door for Fay.

□


b
 Fay goes back to Sun Radio.
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c
 Jason asks Fay out for dinner.

□


d
 Jason pays for dinner.

□


e
 Fay feels alone and hungry.

□


f
 Jason tries to kiss Fay.

□


g
 Fay and Jason go to an Italian restaurant.

□


h
 Simon Jones comes to speak to Fay.

□


i
 Fay runs back to Sun Radio.

□


j
 Fay gets back her bag.

□

WORD WORK

Use the words in the spaghetti to complete the sentences below.
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a
 We drank a bottle of good, old, Hungarian red 　wine
 　
 .


b
 I'm feeling rich. I can ____________ for our dinner.


c
 My brother and I look ____________. The two of us have dark hair and green eyes.


d
 Move your mouth away from my face. I'm not going to ____________ you!


e
 There was a ____________ for me on the door and I read it.


f
 There's a very nice Polish ____________ near our house. We can eat very well there.


g
 It's not true! I don't ____________ in Father Christmas.

GUESS WHAT

What happens in the next chapter? Tick five boxes.


a
 Simon Jones meets his mother.

□


b
 Simon goes to Australia.

□


c
 The Friends' Hour
 is better than before.

□


d
 Fay loses her job.

□


e
 Wing stops working on The Friends' Hour
 .

□


f
 Jason leaves Studio Five.

□


g
 Fay finds a boyfriend – Simon!

□


h
 Wing and Fay fall in love.

□
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Chapter 6　Time to Talk


第六章　是时候谈谈了

'Simon, is it really you?' I asked.

'Yes, Fay. I put the note in your bag. I work in the Lost Property Office. But why are you looking for me?'

'It's a long story,' I said. We talked for the next thirty minutes.
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We talked for the next thirty minutes.


'Look, I'm twenty-five years old,' said Simon. 'I'm not a child. Why didn't mum tell me about my real dad? I needed to leave home. I needed time to think. Do you understand?'

'Yes, and your mother understands too. But she wants you to come back home.'

'Well, I have a room in a flat
 now. Ahmed helped me to find it. I don't want to live with my mother again.'

'Is that Ahmed Khan?' I asked.

'Yes, that's right. He has lots of shops in London. Some of them have flats upstairs. Ahmed told me about your visit to his shop.'

'Yes, I met him. But he didn't tell me about your flat.'

'I know. I told him, "Please don't give people my address." Ahmed always keeps his promises.
 He's a very good friend.'

So Ahmed Khan's story wasn't all true. But he only wanted to protect
 Simon. I understood.

'You don't need to leave your flat, Simon,' I said. 'But your mother wants to see you.'

'I'm not ready to see her. Look, Fay, why are you so interested in us? This is nothing to do with you.'

'I know that,' I said. 'But your mother called me. She asked for my help. Family is important, you know. We sometimes forget it, but it's true. My mother died six months ago. I didn't talk to her for a long time before she died. And now I can never make friends with her again. You and your mother need to talk.'

'Ok, then perhaps you can help me?'

'Of course,' I said. Just then I had a good idea. I could help the Jones family and change my show at the same time. 'I'm going to do my best, but you must help me too.' I wrote Simon's telephone number in my notebook. Then I went back to the office excitedly. I had work to do. I needed to speak to Wing about Jason too.
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I worked hard in Studio Five for the rest of the day. I saw Wing many times but we couldn't talk. Before I went home, I called Simon and then Mrs Jones. I asked Mrs Jones, 'Can you come to Sun Radio to talk on The Friends
 ' Hour
 ?' I didn't tell her about Simon.
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The next day was Saturday. Wing met Simon at 9.30. I met Mrs Jones at 10 o'clock.

'We're going to talk about families on today's show,' I told her. We went into Studio Five at 10.50. The show began at 11.00.

'Four-three-two-one – on air!' I looked at Mrs Jones and smiled. The music played. 'My name's Fay Friend and this is The Friends' Hour
 . Today we're talking about families. My guest is Margaret Jones.'

Mrs Jones talked about Simon. Simon listened to the show in Wing's office, but Mrs Jones didn't know that. She told the listeners about her family and about Simon's real father.

'Geoff is Simon's real father but he didn't want children. He was selfish
 and he didn't want to marry me. I was pregnant
 but he wasn't interested. He went to live in Australia, and I never saw him again.'

'So what about your husband, Peter? What was he like?' I asked.

'Peter Jones was a very different man. He truly loved me and he wanted to be a good father to Simon. He married me before Simon was born. We never talked about Geoff after that. We were happy. I never found the right time to tell Simon. Then one day he found some letters from Geoff. He didn't understand, he was angry with me, and he left home.'

We talked on air for fifteen minutes. Then I asked Mrs Jones, 'Can you close your eyes for a minute?' At first she didn't understand, but then she closed them. At the same time, Simon came into Studio Five. Then Mrs Jones opened her eyes. For a second they didn't say a thing. Then, suddenly, Mrs Jones spoke.

'I'm really happy to see you, Simon.'

'It was really difficult for you Mum, and I never knew. Peter was a true father to me. He was wonderful. Why didn't you tell me?'

'I'm sorry. I wanted to tell you. But I never found the right time.'

'It doesn't matter. We can talk now. It was wrong of me to walk out. I'm sorry.'

They were happy and sad at the same time. They talked and talked. I was really excited. I felt good about helping the Jones family. And I felt good about the show too. Then I remembered the meeting with Jason on Monday. And I remembered about Wing, too. I felt terrible again.

On Sunday I stayed in bed for a long time. I wanted to forget about Monday. I thought about getting a new job. But I didn't want to leave Sun Radio, Studio Five or The Friends' Hour
 . Suddenly I understood something. I didn't want to lose my job, but most of all I didn't want to lose Wing. I was in love with him.
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I went to work early on Monday morning. My meeting with Jason was at ten o'clock. At 9.30 Wing came into the Studio. I was ready to talk to him. I loved him, not Jason. He needed to know.
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Then Simon came into the studio.


'Wing, we need to talk,' I said. 'It's about me and Jason. You don't understand.'

'Yes, I do, Fay. It's nothing to do with me. Forget it,' he said. Then he left the room. I wanted to cry. 'I must tell him the truth!' I thought. So I wrote a note for him:
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But I didn't give the note to Wing in the end. I couldn't. I felt stupid about it.

Suddenly I looked at my watch. It was 10 o'clock – time for my meeting! I left the note on my desk and ran to Jason's office. I knocked on Jason's door and waited. I felt really ill.

'Come in, Fay,' I heard, but it wasn't Jason's voice. It was a woman. I went into the room and saw two people there – Jason and his boss, Amy Jackson.

'Sit down, Fay,' said Amy. Jason said nothing. 'I'm going to lose my job,' I thought.

'Fay, the new Friends' Hour
 show on Saturday was truly wonderful,' said Amy. 'The listeners loved it, and we want you to do the same show – all about families and their problems – every day. You get a pay rise
 to go with your new job, too.'

Jason tried to smile, but he couldn't.

'Jason's moving up to Studio Ten next month,' said Amy. 'So you can have his office on this floor. And Wing can work on a new show too. He's ready for it. Please tell him the news. He can see me about it this afternoon.'

I left Jason's office. I felt happy about the show, and happy for Wing. I wanted to tell him the good news. I found him in my office – with a big smile on his face.

'Fay, Why didn't you tell me before?' he said. He hugged
 me and kissed me.'

'What do you mean?' I laughed. 'Do you know about our new jobs?'

'New jobs? No! Don't be stupid. I found your note on the desk. I read it. And I love you too, Fay.' I kissed him back.
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That was a month ago. Now my new show is on air every day. The listeners love The Friends' Hour
 . Lots of interesting people call me. They're looking for lost friends and family. Things are different in Studio Five too. I don't work with Wing these days. He has a new show. I never see him at work, but it doesn't matter – because he's my boyfriend. And we're really very happy, Wing and I.
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And we're really happy, Wing and I.





flat
 n.
 a number of rooms in a house where someone lives 公寓



promise
 n.
 something you say that you will certainly do 承诺



protect
 v.
 to keep someone safe 保护



selfish
 adj.
 thinking only about what is good for you 自私的



pregnant
 adj.
 when a woman is waiting for a child 怀孕的



pay rise
 when the money you get for work goes up 加薪



hug
 v.
 to take lovingly in your arms 拥抱






ACTIVITIES

READING CHECK

Correct ten more mistakes in the summary of the chapter.

Fay finds Simon and tells him, 'You must talk to your father
 (mother
 ).'

Simon is now living in one of Ahmed Khan's shops. Fay has an idea to help the Khan family and to make her show better too.

The next day Simon and Mr Khan meet in Studio Five. They talk on air on The Friends' Hour
 . Simon learns the true story about his mother and his real sister. At the end of the show, mother and daughter are friends again.

On Sunday, Fay has a meeting with Jason and his boss, Amy. Before the meeting, Fay writes a card to Wing. She loves Simon, not Jason – but Wing doesn't know this. The listeners love the new show, and Fay doesn't lose her job. Wing is going to move to Studio Ten. Fay tells Wing about his new job and Wing tells Amy about his love for her.

WORD WORK

Use the letters in the bags to make words and complete the sentences.


a
 I can't go home. I have a room in a 　flat
 　
 now.
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b
 He was _________ and he never thought much about me.
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c
 I was _________ but he didn't want children.
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d
 How much was two and two? I didn't know, and I felt _________.
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e
 My brother and I ____________ and kissed when we met.
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f
 And our _________ on today's show is Robbie Williams.
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g
 Are you happy with the money from your job, or do you want a _______________?
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h
 What's the _______ in Hollywood this week? Who's leaving their husband or wife and who is marrying for a third time?
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i
 Suddenly someone __________ on our back door. Who was it?
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GUESS WHAT

What happens after the end of the story? Choose from these ideas or add your own.


a
 Fay marries Wing.


b
 Fay leaves Studio Five.


c
 Fay and Jason are now friends again.


d
 Simon goes back to live with his mother.


e
 Simon goes to look for his real father in Australia.


f
 Wing makes a new show at Sun Radio.


g
 Jason comes back to Studio Five.


h
 ____________________________


i
 ____________________________


j
 ____________________________
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PROJECT

PROJECT　拓展训练


Cards and Special Days


1 What is happening to these different people? What do you say to them? Match the words with the pictures.
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2 Match these cards with the words in them.
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1
 Congratulations to the two of you on your wedding day!


2
 Congratulations on your retirement – after all these years!


3
 Congratulations on passing your driving test!


4
 Many happy returns of the day – Birthday Boy!

3 Complete this dialogue with the phrases from the box.


Amy:
 ____________________________


Fay:
 ____________________________


Amy:
 Here's a card for you. Open it.


Fay opens the card.



Wing:
 ____________________________


Fay:
 (reading
 ) Congratulations from all of us at Sun Radio.


Wing:
 ____________________________


Amy:
 ____________________________


Fay opens the present.



Fay:
 ____________________________ Thank you, Amy.
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4 Match these characters from Studio Five
 with the best presents for them. Can you think of any more good presents for each character?
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5 Choose three characters from Studio Five
 , a special day, and some presents. Write a dialogue like the one in Activity 3.


Going by Underground


6 Fay went to visit Mrs Jones by underground. Look at the map and Fay's diary page. Mark Fay's route on the map like this: –-–-–-–.
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7 Answer the questions.


a
 How many underground lines did Fay take?


b
 Which direction did she go in? (North, east, south or west?)


c
 Where did she change lines?


d
 How many stops was the last stop from the first station?

8 Look at the map and complete the diary page about Fay's journey from Sun Radio to Paddington Station.
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9 Mrs Jones came from home to meet Fay at Sun Radio. Look at the map from Activity 6 and her notes below. Answer these questions.


a
 How many underground lines did Mrs Jones take?


b
 Which direction did she go in? (North, east, south or west?)


c
 Where did she change lines?


d
 How many stops was it from the first station?
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10 Write about Mrs Jones's journey. Use these phrases to help you.


I left home ____________. I walked to____________ underground station.





There I got on a train going ____________ on the____________ line. (The ____________ line on the map).





I got off at ____________ – the __________stop (and changed trains there to the____________ line going ____________).

I got off at ____________ – the __________stop. I walked to ____________ from there.








GRAMMAR

GRAMMAR CHECK　语法充电


need 和 need to

用 need/don't need
 +名词表示需要/不需要某种重要的东西。need 是规则动词。


Do you
 
need

 more time, Fay?


你需要更多时间吗，费伊？


I
 
don't need

 your help!


我不需要你的帮助！

用 need to/don't need to
 +动词原形表示需要/不需要做某件重要的事情。


We
 
need to think

 of ideas for the show.


我们得为这档节目构思构思。


You
 
don't need to leave

 your flat, Simon.


你不需要离开你的公寓，西蒙。



1 Complete the sentences with the correct past or present form of need
 or need to
 . Who do you think said these things? Write Fay, Wing, Mrs Jones, or Simon.


a
 'I 　don't need
 　
 a card, but I'm looking for a friend.'


　Fay
 　



b
 'Meet me in the coffee shop at 10 o'clock. We _________ talk.'

_______


c
 'For years I thought, "I _________ tell Simon about his real dad".'

_______


d
 'I _________ my keys, but they're in my bag!'

_______


e
 'I think we _________ listen to the CD again, Fay.'

_______


f
 'Excuse me. I _________ my bag. A woman left it here last night.'

_______


g
 'You _________ help, Fay. I can stay here and think of ideas for the show.'

_______


h
 'Please help me to find my son. I _________ you.'

_______


i
 'You _________ worry, Mr Khan. She isn't going to come back to your shop.'

_______


j
 'No, I _________ more time to think of new ideas. Monday is OK for me.'

_______


k
 'I don't want to call Jason, but I _________ get into the radio station.'

_______
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一般过去时：否定式

一般过去时的否定式由 didn't
 +动词原形构成。


Jason
 
didn't run

 after me.


贾森没有追我。


I
 
didn't love

 Jason. I loved Wing.


我不爱贾森。我爱永。



2 One piece of information in each sentence is incorrect. Change the word in italics and correct the sentences.


a
 Fay and Wing listened to music
 in the studio at night.



Fay and Wing didn't listen to music. They listened to the CD from the show.




b
 Simon phoned the show from an airport
 .

_____________________________________________


c
 Fay went to a bookshop
 .

_____________________________________________


d
 Fay left her phone
 in the shop.

_____________________________________________


e
 A woman left Fay's bag at the ticket
 office.

_____________________________________________


f
 Fay went back to Simon's mother's
 house.

_____________________________________________


g
 Jason took Fay to the cinema.


_____________________________________________


h
 Wing
 tried to kiss Fay.

_____________________________________________


i
 A man put a key
 into her bag.

_____________________________________________


j
 Fay met Wing
 in a café.

_____________________________________________


k
 Simon and his father
 talked on Fay's show.

_____________________________________________


一般过去时：特殊疑问句

疑问词+did
 +主语+动词原形构成一般过去时的特殊疑问句。



Why did he leave

 ?


他为什么要离开？



When did you lose

 it?


你什么时候丢的？



3 Fay is interviewing Simon's mother on her show. Write Fay's questions using what
 , why
 , or how
 .


a
 Simon's real father / do?



What did Simon's real father do?




b
 he / go / to Australia?

______________________________


c
 Simon / learn about his real father?

______________________________


d
 Simon / leave home?

______________________________


e
 you / do?

______________________________


f
 you / get / from Simon on your birthday?

______________________________


g
 Simon / phone / my programme?

______________________________
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4 Match these answers with Fay's questions in Exercise 3.


1
 He sent me some flowers. So he was OK, I knew. □


2
 He was very angry with me because I didn't tell him about his real father. □


3
 He wanted to tell me, 'I'm OK, Mum.' But I want him to come home! □


4
 He left me when I was pregnant, and went to Australia. [image: alt]



5
 He read an old letter from his real father. □


6
 I looked for him for months. I put photos in shops and called the police. Where was he? Nobody knew. □


7
 He was selfish. I was pregnant and he didn't want a baby. □


情态动词：can


Can I/we
 +动词原形：询问是否可以做某事。

有什么需要我帮忙的吗？



Can I

 help you?
 
Can we

 go now?


我们现在可以走了吗？


Can you
 +动词原形：请求某人做某事。



Can you close

 your eyes for a minute?


你能把眼睛闭上一会儿吗？

这些以 can 开头的句子末尾用问号。



5 Write these people's requests. Use the word in brackets.


a
 Wing wants Fay to answer one more call. (you)

Wing: 
'Can you answer one more call?'




b
 Fay wants to see Simon's room. (I)

Fay: _______________________________


c
 Fay wants Khan to tell her about Simon. (you)

Fay: _______________________________


d
 Fay wants to talk with Mrs Jones about Simon. (we)

Fay: _______________________________


e
 Simon's mum wants Fay to help her. (you)

Mrs Jones: ___________________________


f
 Fay wants to have a big coffee with milk. (I)

Fay: ___________________________


g
 Fay wants Jason to open the door for her. (you)

Fay: ___________________________


h
 Jason would like to be friends with Fay. (we)

Jason: ___________________________


i
 Simon wants to meet Fay in the coffee shop. (we)

Simon: ___________________________


j
 Jason wants to buy dinner for Fay. (I)

Jason: ___________________________


k
 Fay wants Simon's mum to come to the radio station. (you)

Fay: ___________________________
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情态动词：could 和 couldn't


could/couldn't
 +动词原形：用于描述过去的能力。


On the computer, we could hear
 them easily.
 在电脑上，我们能轻易地听到它们。



I opened my bag, but I couldn't find
 my keys in it.


我打开包，但在里面找不到自己的钥匙。



6 Complete these sentences. Use could
 or couldn't
 and one of the verbs in the box.
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a
 Fay 
　couldn't think　

 of any new ideas for her radio show.


b
 Wing and Fay __________ the CD because it was in Jason's office and the door was locked.


c
 Fay __________ into Jason's office after she walked along the window ledge.


d
 When Wing put the CD into the computer, they __________ something about a train to Oxford.


e
 Fay went to Paddington Station, but she __________ Simon at the card shop.


f
 She __________ her bag from the lost property office because it was closed.


g
 She __________ home because her keys were in her bag.


h
 Simon and Fay __________ because Simon left a note in Fay's bag.


i
 After Jason moved up to Studio Ten, Fay __________ into Jason's office.


j
 After Fay's show, Simon's mum __________ to Simon and see him again.
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可数名词和不可数名词


many
 修饰可数名词。


I went into the shop. It had
 
many

 different things in it.


我走进店里。里面的东西五花八门。


much
 在疑问句和否定句中修饰不可数名词。


It was Friday and I didn't have
 
much

 time.


今天是周五，我没有多少时间。


a few
 修饰可数名词，a little
 修饰不可数名词。


I wanted to ask him a few
 questions.


我想问他几个问题。


We had a little
 wine.


我们喝了一点儿酒。


no, a lot of
 和 lots of
 既可以修饰可数名词，也可以修饰不可数名词。


I had
 
no

 money and
 
no

 keys to the Sun Radio offices.


我没有钱，也没有太阳广播电台办公室的钥匙。


He has
 
a lot of

 shops in London.


他在伦敦有许多家店铺。



7 Choose the correct words to complete the conversation.

Simon:

Can you tell me something, Fay? How did you find me?

Fay:

My friend Wing and I listened to a CD of your phone call a) many/
 
much

 times. Where did you call from? We wanted to find out, but there wasn't b) many
 / much
 background noise on the CD. Then Wing played it on a computer. It was a really good idea.

Simon:

Why?

Fay:

We could hear c) a
 lot
 of/a
 little
 new sounds in the background. We heard you when you put d) a
 little/a
 few
 coins into the phone box.

Simon:

But how e) many/much
 phone boxes are there in London?

Fay:

I know, but we heard f) a
 few/much
 words about a train to Oxford, too.

Simon:

So you looked at Oxford trains on the Internet and came to Paddington Station?

Fay:

That's right. I visited g) a
 few/a
 little
 shops and took your picture with me. h) Lots
 of/Much
 people looked at it, but nobody knew you.

Simon:

That's because my hair is different. And people here call me Jim.

Fay:

Right. I was really worried by then because I had i) no/a
 few
 more ideas, and I didn't have j) much/many
 time to find you. And then you left me that note.

Simon:

Well, you needed k) a
 few/a little
 help, I thought!


用现在进行时表示将来：肯定句和否定句

可以用现在进行时表示计划好的将来的某个活动。

现在进行时由 be
 +动词 -ing
 形式构成。
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 Jason'
 
s

 
moving

 up to Studio Ten next month.


下个月贾森要调到第十演播室。
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 Wing
 
isn't working

 with Fay next month.


下个月永不再与费伊一同工作。



8 Look at Fay's diary and write affirmative and negative sentences about Fay's day.
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a
 Fay / talk / to Mrs Jones on The Friends' Hour




Fay isn't talking to Mrs Jones on The Friends' Hour.




b
 Fay / meet / Simon for coffee at ten __________________


c
 she / have / lunch with Jason at twelve thirty _______________


d
 the people in the studio / have / a meeting at two _______________


e
 she / go / home after work ________________________


f
 she / visit / a dress shop at five thirty ____________________


g
 she / meet / Wing's parents at eight _____________________


h
 they / eat / in a Chinese restaurant ___________________


TRANSLATION　译文


第一章


两位来电者与一张照片

“4—3—2—1，开播。”每天在我的节目开始前，我都会听到这句话。平常我都呆在第五演播室。我在那儿制作自己的节目。

音乐响起，紧接着我说：“我是费伊·弗兰德，这里是《朋友时光》。”我的节目在太阳广播电台播出。一周播出三次，周三、周四和周六。我的大量时间都在第五演播室度过。我播放音乐，并在其间讲话。我喜欢在自己的节目里跟人们交谈。有时他们想听音乐，有时他们想找个人聊天。

我不在第五演播室的时候，就在自己的办公室里。11月里一个周四的早上，我正在自己的办公室里，这时我收到了上司的一封电子邮件。他叫贾森·希尔。他的办公室就紧挨着我的。贾森不喜欢说话，他喜欢发邮件。

“《朋友时光》没有意思，”他在电子邮件中对我写道。“没人听这个节目。你得找些新东西。你赶快想想！我想下周一见你谈一谈。”我很生气。这个节目挺好的，我想。但我只有四天来构思新的东西。两个月前，贾森还是我的朋友。可现在他总是跟我发脾气。

我的节目上午11点开始播出，12点结束，之后是天气预报。现在是11点55分。我播放了点音乐。然后我呼叫永。张永协助我工作。他负责接听电话。他还帮我制作这档节目。永帮了我大忙。我母亲五月份去世了。永那时也实实在在地帮助了我。我为妈妈伤心欲绝。她去世后，我不吃东西，不说话，一连多天没有上班。在我妈妈这件事上，永对我很好。他在工作上也帮助我。他是个非常好的朋友。

“永，还有电话进来吗？”

“费伊，还有一个找你的电话。但要速战速决。”永总会盯着时间，而我老是忘了。

“好的，”我说。“这个电话好解决吗？”

“不好解决。”音乐结束了。下一个打进电话的人在等待。

“在本节目结束前，还有接进一个电话的时间，”我说。“这位打进电话的朋友，你叫什么名字？来自哪里？”片刻之后，打电话的人说话了。

“嗨，费伊，呃……我是西蒙，西蒙·琼斯。这个电话是为我母亲打来的。她喜欢你的节目，我知道。我——我10个月前离家出走。我不想见她，但我很好……身体很好，我是说。我离家不远，但我不会回家。我现在得走了。”西蒙很生气，也很悲伤。家家都有本难念的经啊，我想。我父母都已去世了。想到这儿，我黯然神伤。

“西蒙，你还在吗？喂？”我说，但此时西蒙已挂断了电话。我又播放了一些音乐结束了这期节目。天气预报在12点整的时候开始播出。

这期节目之后，我又想到了西蒙·琼斯。他一点儿都不快乐。下午，我为第二天的节目做准备工作。我搞不懂贾森。《朋友时光》挺好的，我想，但他不喜欢。他想要什么呢？我如何做才能令他满意呢？我不知道。我喝了很多咖啡。半点灵感也没有。4点的时候，永跑进我的办公室。

“永！我在工作呢。”我又生气了。我在想贾森的电子邮件。

“抱歉，费伊，但我接到一个跟今天节目有关的电话。”

“又是贾森吗？他现在想干什么？”

“不，不是贾森。是一个女人。她叫玛格丽特·琼斯。她是西蒙的母亲。”

“她想干什么？”我问道。

“她想要你帮忙，我猜，”永说道。“她把她家的电话号码给了我，还有门牌号、街道……”

“喂，永，我哪里能帮她呢？”我生气地说。永回他的办公室去了。

然后我又想起了自己的父母。我父亲14年前就去世了。当时我才11岁。他是一名警察。我母亲也总想让我成为一名警察。但我只想在广播电台工作。我开始在太阳广播电台工作后，妈妈和我两年都没说话。之后她就去世了。那是6个月前。我心情特别糟，因为我们没有说上话。但或许我能帮帮琼斯太太？

但是，不行，我真的没时间那么做。我只有4天的时间来为自己的节目构思新素材。我努力再回到工作中。5分钟之后，我看着自己的电脑。那上面显示贾森又发来一封怒气冲冲的邮件。受够了！我前往永的办公室。

“琼斯一家住在哪儿？”我问。他告诉了我街道名和门牌号码。我出了太阳广播电台，跑向地铁站。我得跟琼斯太太谈一谈。
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五点一刻的时候，我到了皮卡迪利广场，这是离太阳广播电台最近的站点。玛格丽特·琼斯家在芬赤利路地铁站附近。大约二十分钟后，我赶到了芬赤利路。

我出了地铁站，跑着掠过街上的各色行人。没时间微笑，没时间说话。我想着西蒙。“他在哪儿？他为什么不开心呢？”

我走过一家超市、几家咖啡馆和一些办公楼。5分钟后，我到了南方路。琼斯太太住在26号。南方路是一条有很多红色大房子的街道，还有一家小店铺——20号。我看到了店名——“汗一站式商店”。

突然，我感到口渴。都是之前在演播室喝的那些咖啡闹的！我得喝点水。我走进店里。里面的东西五花八门：阅读的东西、吃的东西和喝的东西。我找到了水，付钱给男店员。随后我向门口走去。到门口时我停住了。我看到门的背面贴着东西。那是一张年轻男子的照片。我看见照片下方写着：“西蒙·琼斯在哪儿？”这句问话的下面，有一个可拨打的电话号码。我对西蒙存有很多疑问，而且我需要尽快得到答案。或许这家商店的男店员能够帮助我？


第二章


卡片与火车

“您是汗先生吗？”我问店里的那个男店员。

“我就是。”他说。

“您认识这张照片上的人吗？”

“我认识。他以前住在南方路。他在这儿工作了两年。他是个好雇员。”

“他是什么时候离开的？”

“呃……一月份，我想是。”汗先生说。“我对西蒙说：‘你现在得调到另一家店工作了。’我在伦敦有六家店，你看，我需要每家店里都有优秀的员工。但西蒙说‘不行’。他想在离家近的地方工作，因为他需要钱。他喜欢火车，你知道。他想坐火车去欧洲大陆。在那之后，我就不常见到他了。但我在几个月前就已把西蒙的一切都告诉警方了。你是谁？”

“我是西蒙的朋友。”我说。“那他为什么要离开呢？您知道吗？”

“不，我不知道。他以前总是很友善，老爱笑。然后突然间，一切都变了。他变了个人——整天闷闷不乐。或许家里发生了什么事吧。我也不知道。他变得很沉默。西蒙家就在这儿附近，南方路26号。去找他母亲谈谈吧。她是个好人。她把那张照片贴在我的店里。西蒙在他父亲去世后，对她非常好。他是个好孩子。”

“琼斯先生是什么时候去世的呢？”我问。

“三年前吧，好像是。你真的是西蒙的朋友吗？你并不是很了解他啊。”汗先生说。

我谢过他，又向门口走去。汗先生到商店的后面去打电话了。他看不见我。我把西蒙的照片从门后取下来，装进自己的包里。然后我快步赶往南方路26号。我得跟琼斯太太谈谈。

一个女人打开了大门。她满头白发。

“嗨，我是费伊·弗兰德。”我说。“我在太阳广播电台工作。您今天下午给我们演播室打过电话。我们能谈谈西蒙吗？”

“您来了，太好了！谢谢您。快请进。”琼斯太太把我带进客厅。她沏了茶，挨着我坐下。

“在电话上，您想让我帮忙。”我说。

“对。”琼斯太太双手托着头。她非常悲伤。

“我必须找到西蒙。”她说。

“我能怎么办呢？我又不是侦探。”我心想。

“您能帮我，我知道。求您答应吧，费伊。”她哭着说。我又想到了自己的家人。我真的很想帮她。

“好吧。”我说。我拉起琼斯太太的手。“从头到尾好好跟我说说。西蒙为什么离开？”

琼斯太太抬头看着我的眼睛，跟我讲起了她的故事。

“我们一家多年来一直过得很幸福。后来，我丈夫彼得去世了。那段时间我和西蒙都很艰难。我非常悲痛。但西蒙在那些黑暗的日子里给了我很大的帮助。后来，糟糕的事情发生了……”琼斯太太又哭了起来。

“什么？”我问道。

“十个月前，西蒙发现了一些旧信，是我以前的男友写的，他叫杰夫。我丈夫彼得不是西蒙的亲生父亲，你要知道。杰夫是西蒙的父亲，但他在西蒙出生前的一两个月就抛弃了我。他不想要孩子。后来我遇到了彼得。他对我非常好，我们相爱了。之后不久彼得就娶了我。他是个好丈夫，对西蒙也是个好父亲。但西蒙从来都不知道事情的真相。他发现杰夫的信之后，非常生我的气。我们两天都没说话。之后西蒙就离家出走了。到现在已经有十个月了。他现在在哪儿呢？我一点头绪都没有。但没有他我就活不下去了啊！”

我看着琼斯太太，想到了我的母亲。

“我会帮您的。”我说。但我能做什么呢？我父亲是位警察，而我在做一档广播节目。我没有任何答案，但我知道琼斯太太需要我。

“太谢谢你啦，费伊。你来看看这个。两个月前，9月21日，我刚好满50岁。我生日当天收到了这张卡片。”琼斯太太递给我一张装在信封里的卡片。卡片上有一幅画，画着红红的花。我打开卡片，读道：

亲爱的妈妈，我很好。别担心！爱您的西蒙

目前我有那个电话号码、汗先生店里的那张照片和这张贺卡来帮我。但我还需要更多地了解西蒙。

“琼斯太太，我可以看看西蒙的房间再走吗？”我问道。

“可以，当然可以。他走后，我没动过一样东西。”

琼斯太太带我上了楼，打开了西蒙卧室的门。我想更多地了解他。房间很整洁——里面有一张床、一张桌子、一把椅子和一台电脑。在桌上，我发现了几张火车票和一个火车模型。我想起了跟艾哈迈德·汗的谈话。西蒙喜欢火车。我看了电脑，读了几封西蒙的电子邮件——但它们帮不上什么忙。我下一步该怎么办呢？我不知道。我谢过琼斯太太，离开了南方路。我得想想。我返回太阳广播电台的大楼。


第三章


CD能帮上忙吗？

我在六点半的时候回到了太阳广播电台。我打开包，但在里面找不到自己的钥匙。于是我拿出手机给永打了电话。时间已经不早了，但或许他还在工作。

“你好，第五演播室。我是张永。”永在那头说道。

“太好了！你在呢。”我说。

“你又忘带钥匙了，费伊。所以我在等你呢。”

“谢谢，永。你能给我开一下门吗？”永为我打开了门。我上楼走进自己在第五演播室的办公室，坐了下来。

“谢谢你等我。钥匙的事儿真不好意思。”我说完冲永笑了笑。“他真够朋友。”我想。有时我会想到自己和永。我没有男朋友，我真的很喜欢跟永在一起。当然了，我没有告诉他这些。我不想失去一个好朋友。

“我有个坏消息，费伊。”永说。“上司又给你发了一封电子邮件。贾森不满意今天的节目。”

突然，我办公室的电话响了。是贾森。我有一种不祥的预感。我回到太阳广播电台了，这他已经知道了。他想跟我谈谈。我慢悠悠地向他的办公室走去。

“晚上好。很高兴你回到我们身边了。”他说。他脸上挂着微笑，但他在生气，我知道。“你还记得我今天早上发的邮件吗？”他问道。

“记得，当然。”我说。“你想要做这档节目的新想法。我正在努力呢。”

“费伊，这很重要。没有想法——就没有节目，没有节目——就没有工作。好好想想吧！我听了今天的节目。你真的还有很多工作要做。”我看见他桌上放着今天节目的CD光盘。

“我明天会完成一些新想法的构思。”我说。

“也许你想调到第十演播室？”他笑道。第十演播室的人制作的都是早间节目。“在第十演播室，他们每天清晨四点就要起床，你知道的。”贾森不喜欢第十演播室，因为他不喜欢清晨。

贾森打开窗子。他手里夹着一支香烟。他坐回到椅子上，抽着烟。他的双脚搭在桌子上。

“你需要更多时间吗，费伊？”他问。

“我当然需要更多时间。”我说。“我只有三天的时间。”

“那今晚就跟我一起用餐吧。我们晚上出去好好玩一下。然后我随随便便就能给你更多时间了。我喜欢你，费伊。你明白。”

“哦，现在我明白了。”我说。“嗯，答案是‘不’！我不需要更多的时间了。周一对我来说没问题。好了，对不起。我要走了。”我跑出贾森的办公室，关上门，然后哭了起来。我哭个不停。我走回第五演播室，可永看见了我的脸。

“怎么啦，费伊？”永把一只手搭在我的手臂上。

“贾森真的很生我的气。”我说。“我得在周一前为这档节目做很多工作。”然后我跟永说了自己去南方路的事儿。

“你因为你妈妈的事儿很痛苦，费伊。但你真的帮不了琼斯太太。你不是侦探。还有这档节目怎么办？”永说。

他抓住我的手。“我需要——”他开始道。接着他的脸突然变得通红。

“什么？”我问。

“哦，没什么。”他说，然后他就退开了。

“永，琼斯太太需要帮助。”我说。“我得帮她。很抱歉，但我明天会考虑节目的事儿的。”

“好吧！”永说。“但你一个人干不了所有这些侦探工作。我可以帮你。”

“谢谢你。”我静静地说道。

“那让我们想想看，”永说。“西蒙是一月份离开的。然后他在九月份寄给他妈妈一张卡片。对吧？”

“对。而且他还喜欢火车。”

“对啦。我们再来听听今天的节目吧。”永说。“也许我们漏听了西蒙电话里的重要信息。”

“那张CD光盘在贾森的办公室呢。”我说。我们去了贾森的办公室。但他不在，门上着锁。

“糟糕。我们进不去。”永说道。“也许明天——”

“这不能等啊！”我说。接着我有了一个主意。我跑回自己的办公室，脱下鞋子。然后我站上办公桌，打开了办公室的窗户。

永也跟了进来。

“你干什么呢？”他问。

“贾森办公室的窗户开着。我可以从这儿爬出去，从那扇开着的窗户进入他的办公室。”

“什么？！那可不安全。我们可是在五楼啊！”

“别担心。”我说。我把头伸出窗户。然后我爬了出去，站在窗台上。外面很冷。我朝下看去。我看见了下面街上的汽车。它们跟汽车模型差不了多少。我不再往下看了。我可不想掉下去。随后我想到了西蒙和我的家人。我顿时沿着窗台快速移动起来。

“小心！”永说。我差点儿从窗户掉进贾森的办公室。我从他的桌上拿到了CD，然后打开了办公室的门。永很高兴看见我安全返回。

“费伊，”他说。“你真是疯了！”

“我知道。”我说。我感到特别兴奋。我们走进第五演播室，非常仔细地听西蒙的电话录音。


第四章


地铁站的贺卡商店

“永，这没什么用。”我说。“我不想再听那张CD了。都五遍了，不想听了。里面什么也没有。我明天必须告诉琼斯太太，我再也帮不了她了。”

“等一下！”永说。“我有一个想法。我们听的东西不对路。我们得再听一遍。但我得用电脑来听。”于是，他在电脑上播放起那张CD。这回，我们听到背景里有不同的杂音。这些杂音之前很微弱，但在电脑上我们能轻易地听到。我们先是听见背景里有人说话，随后我们便听到了硬币的声响。

“也许西蒙是从公用电话亭打给我们的。”永说。

“那也帮不了我们什么啊。伦敦得有多少个公用电话亭呢？”我说。

“嘘！听这个。”永说。此时我们听到背景里有一个新声音。

“现在播报站台变更信息。11点45分开往牛津的列车就要从6站台发车了。”

“西蒙在火车站呢！”永说。他非常开心。

“你说得没错。”我说。“而且是去牛津的列车。也许是伦敦的一个车站！”

我在网上查了一下。开往牛津的列车是从伦敦帕丁顿车站发车的。随后我就有了一个想法。我从包里拿出琼斯太太的卡片，仔细地看了看信封。日戳上的邮政编码是W2 25。我又在网上搜了一下。西蒙是从帕丁顿车站寄出的这张贺卡！卡片的背面还有一家商店的名字，叫Cards 4U。我知道这个名字。皮卡迪利广场的地铁站里也有一家Cards 4U店。

“也许在帕丁顿站也有一家店。”我想。“而且或许西蒙就在那儿工作呢。”我拿起卡片和西蒙的照片，放进包里。

“我要去找西蒙。”我告诉永。“我想，他在帕丁顿。”

“祝你好运，费伊！”永微笑着说道。“别担心我。”他说。“我会在这儿等你，同时想想你的节目改版的事儿。别忘了你周一还要见贾森呢。”
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我九点半左右赶到了帕丁顿地铁站。我向上走到了火车站。我看到火车附近有一些小店铺。随后我就看见了一家商店的橱窗上有“Cards 4U”的字样。我快步走进那家商店。

“您需要什么？”店里的女人说。时间已经很晚了，她快要关门了。

“我还没想好。”我说。“我不需要贺卡。我在找一位朋友。他在这儿工作，好像是。他叫西蒙。”

“这里没有西蒙。”她说。

我把包放在桌上，掏出汗先生店里的照片。

“我的名字叫费伊·弗兰德，”我说。“你认识这个人吗？”我问。

“不认识。”那个女人说道。“他不在这里工作。”

那么是我搞错了。

“很抱歉，小姐。我现在要关门了。”那个女人说道。

突然，我看见车站里有一个年轻男子。他走过这家贺卡店。“是西蒙！”我想。我拿起照片跑去追他。很快我就赶到了他近前。不是西蒙。我又搞错了。

我离开贺卡店。我迷惑了。西蒙是从帕丁顿车站给我打的电话。他又是从Cards 4U买的那张贺卡。但他在哪里呢？我毫无所知。

在接下来的30分钟里，我跟车站里的各色人等攀谈。

“您认识这个男的吗？”我问。人们看了那张照片。但没人认识西蒙。30分钟后，我想喝杯咖啡，于是我走进车站的咖啡店里。我要了一大杯加奶的咖啡。

“1英镑75便士。”咖啡店的伙计说道。

“哦，不好！”我说。“我的包！我把包落在贺卡店里了。”

我没拿咖啡就跑了出去。我赶紧把手伸进外衣口袋里。口袋里只有那张照片、手机和车票。我的钥匙、现金和那张贺卡——都在包里。这真是太糟糕了。

我跑向贺卡店。到那儿时，我又热又累。但店已经关门了。随后我看见店里的那个女人在车站里，离我不远。我跑去追她。

“打扰一下，您看到我的包了吗？我把它落在您店里了，我想是。”

“别担心，”她说。“你的包很安全。我把它交到失物招领处了。”

有那么一瞬间我很开心。然后我看了下自己的表。现在是10点05分。

“失物招领处几点关门？”我问。

“10点。”女人答道。“很抱歉。你晚了五分钟。不过没事儿。我告诉他们你的名字了。招领处明天9点就又开门了。别担心。”

我谢过那个女人，但我高兴不起来。我没钱，没有太阳广播电台的钥匙，也没有家里的钥匙。西蒙，节目，我的包，所有的一切，都让我感到难过。我怎么能在一天之内丢两次钥匙呢？多糟糕的一天啊！我从兜里掏出车票，赶回太阳广播电台。


第五章


失物招领处

我回到了皮卡迪利广场。这时已经是夜里10点35分。

“永，请你一定要在第五演播室加班啊。”我想。“那样的话，你就可以再次给我开门了，我也就能睡在自己办公室的地板上了。”

我给永打电话，但他没接。随后我看见贾森的办公室亮着灯。我拨了他的号码。我并不想给他打电话，但我需要帮助。

“你好，贾森·希尔。”他在电话那头说。

“嗨，我是费伊。你能为我开下门吗？”

“你又把钥匙弄丢了吗，费伊？你得多加小心才行啊。”他说。

“钥匙在我的桌上。我想今晚加加班想想《朋友时光》这档节目。”我说。这不是真的，不过贾森为我开了门。

“你加班到这么晚，费伊，很好！”贾森现在对我好些了。“他其实不是个坏上司。”我想。

我进了自己的办公室。我想忘掉这一天。我又累又饿，还很孤独。就在这时，贾森进来了。

“吃那顿晚餐如何，费伊？别担心，我买单。我想感谢一下你为这档节目付出的所有努力。”我真的累了。事发突然，我来不及思考。我不想呆在办公室里，而且贾森也很友善。

“好吧。”我说。“我们以前是朋友。”我想。我拿上外套，往口袋里装了几把办公室的钥匙。我晚些时候还得回来。

我们去了太阳广播电台附近的一家意大利小餐馆。我们吃得很好，还喝了一瓶红酒。这是个美好的夜晚，但总感觉不太对劲儿。“贾森为什么要这么做？”我想。11点30分，该走了。贾森付了账，我们走向门口。突然，一切都变了。他想吻我。

“住手！”我告诉他。

“费伊，放松点！我可以帮你的。”他说。说完，他把手放在了我的腿上。

“把你的手从我身上拿开！你疯了吧。我不需要你的帮助！”我大喊道。我跑回了太阳广播电台。贾森没有追我。天下起雨来。我感到更难过了。
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第二天早上八点半，我在办公室里醒来。我又想到了那档节目。我很疲惫，没有任何灵感。今天是周五，我的时间不多了。我得去帕丁顿车站把我的包拿回来。我打开办公室的门，看见贾森站在我面前。

“费伊，你气色不好啊。”他说。我的头发乱糟糟的，满脸倦意。“你要去哪儿？”他问道。

“外面。”我说。正在此时，永来了。

“早上好。又是个坏天气。”永说。

“费伊，你一定得跟永说说我们昨天度过了多么美好的一个夜晚。”贾森说。“咱们两个人共享了一瓶美酒。”他微笑着，随后便走进了自己的办公室。

永一句话也没说。但他看着我，眼睛瞪得大大的，满眼忧伤。

“你误会了，永。”我说。我不爱贾森。但我没时间告诉永这些。我得赶回帕丁顿车站。

9点10分左右我赶到了失物招领处。

“您有事儿吗？”那里的人问道。我跟他说了我的包的事儿，他问了我几个问题。“您是什么时候丢的？在哪里丢的？包是什么颜色的？里面有哪些东西？”我全都一一作答了。

“好的，小姐。我们来看看吧。”他走进办公室的后面，四下查看了一番。然后，一个年轻男子把我的包拿出来给我。我又看了看西蒙的照片。“这个年轻人是西蒙吗？”我想。但他的头发要长一些，而且颜色也不一样。我慢慢地走出办公室，把照片放进包里。突然，我看见包里有一样新东西。那是一张便条。我把包落在贺卡店里时并没有这张纸条。上面写道：

10点钟来咖啡店找我。我们得谈一谈。

我看了下表。刚九点半。我在车站里又跟一些人搭了一会儿话。又让他们看了一下西蒙的照片，但没人认识他。我想哭。我给永打电话，但他没有接听。

10点钟，我来到咖啡店。那儿的店员冲我微笑了一下。他记得昨天晚上见过我。我买了一杯咖啡，在靠门的一把椅子上坐了下来。“是谁把那张便条放进我包里的呢？”我想。“或许他们知道一些西蒙的事儿。”我等了10分钟，但没人来。我喝完了咖啡，正准备离开。这时一个年轻人走进店里。来人正是失物招领处的那个年轻人。

“您就是费伊·弗兰德吧？”他问。

“是的。”我答道。

“我可以坐下来吗？”

“当然可以。”我说。我又仔细地看了看他，一把从包里掏出西蒙的照片。他的头发不一样：要长一些，而且颜色也不同。但照片上那张脸和这个年轻人的脸一模一样。我禁不住盯着眼前的这个年轻人看。真不敢相信，他就是西蒙·琼斯！


第六章


是时候谈谈了

“西蒙，真的是你吗？”我问。

“是的，费伊。是我把便条放进你包里的。我在失物招领处工作。但你为什么要找我呢？”

“说来话长。”我说。我们接着谈了30分钟。

“你看，我都25岁了。”西蒙说道。“我不是个孩子了。为什么妈妈就不能告诉我亲生父亲的事呢？我得离开家，我需要时间思考。你明白吗？”

“我明白，而且你母亲也明白。但她想要你回家。”

“呃，我目前在一座公寓里有一个房间。是艾哈迈德帮我找的。我不想再跟母亲住在一起了。”

“是那个艾哈迈德·汗吗？”我问。

“是的，没错儿。他在伦敦有很多家店。有一些店的楼上有公寓。艾哈迈德跟我说了你去他店里的事。”

“是的，我见过他了。但他没有跟我说过你公寓的事。”

“我知道。我跟他说过，‘请不要把我的地址给别人。’艾哈迈德总是能信守诺言。他是个非常好的朋友。”

这么说来艾哈迈德·汗没有完全说实话。但他只是想保护西蒙。我理解。

“你并不需要离开自己的公寓，西蒙。”我说。“但你母亲想见你。”

“我还没准备好见她。你看，费伊，为什么你对我们这么感兴趣？这跟你一点儿关系也没有啊。”

“这我知道。”我说。“但你母亲给我打了电话，她要我帮忙。家庭很重要，你知道的。我们有时会忘记这一点，但这是真的。我母亲6个月前去世了，我在她去世前有很长一段时间都没跟她说过话。而现在，我永远都无法再跟她成为朋友了。你和你母亲需要谈一谈。”

“好吧，那或许你可以帮助我？”

“当然了。”我说。就在此时，我有了一个好主意。我可以既帮到琼斯一家，又同时改版我的节目。“我会尽我最大努力的，但你也必须帮助我。”我在笔记本上记下了西蒙的电话号码。然后我兴奋地赶回了办公室。我有工作要做。我还得跟永说说贾森的事情。

[image: alt]


在这一天接下来的时间里，我在第五演播室里努力地工作着。我看见永很多次，但我们没说话。回家前，我先给西蒙打了电话，然后又打给了琼斯太太。我问琼斯太太：“您能来太阳广播电台上《朋友时光》节目吗？”我没告诉她西蒙的事。
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第二天是周六。永9点半接到西蒙。我10点钟接到琼斯太太。

“我们会在今天的节目里谈谈家庭。”我告诉她。我们10点50分走进第五演播室。节目在11点整开始。

“4—3—2—1—开播！”我看着琼斯太太笑了笑。音乐响起。“我是费伊·弗兰德，这里是《朋友时光》。今天我们来说说家庭。我的嘉宾是玛格丽特·琼斯。”

琼斯太太谈起了西蒙。西蒙在永的办公室里收听这档节目，但琼斯太太并不知情。她向听众讲述了她的家庭和西蒙的亲生父亲。

“杰夫是西蒙的亲生父亲，但他不想要孩子。他很自私，他不想跟我结婚。我当时怀孕了，可他毫不关心。他去澳大利亚生活了，我再也没见过他。”

“那您的丈夫彼得呢？他是个什么样的人？”我问道。

“彼得·琼斯是个很不一样的男人。他真心爱我，而且他也想成为西蒙的好父亲。他在西蒙出生前娶了我。此后，我们从未谈论过杰夫。我们很幸福。我一直没找到合适的时机告诉西蒙。后来有一天，他发现了杰夫的几封来信。他不理解，他很生我的气，离家出走了。”

我们在广播里谈了15分钟。然后我问琼斯太太：“您能闭上一下眼睛吗？”起初她没听明白，但随后她便闭上了双眼。与此同时，西蒙走进了第五演播室。然后，琼斯太太睁开了眼睛。一时间他们谁都没说话。随后，突然地，琼斯太太开口了。

“看到你我真的很高兴，西蒙。”

“您真不容易，妈妈，我一直都不知道。彼得是我真正的父亲。他很棒。您为什么不告诉我呢？”

“对不起。我是想告诉你的，但我一直找不到合适的时机。”

“没关系。我们可以现在谈。我不应该离家出走。对不起。”

他们悲喜交加。他们聊啊聊啊。我真的很兴奋。能帮助琼斯母子我感到欣慰，而我也对这期节目感觉良好。然后我记起周一还要跟贾森碰面。我还想起了永。我又感到难过了。

周日，我在床上躺了很长时间。我想忘记周一的事。我想到了去找份新工作。但我不想离开太阳广播电台、第五演播室和《朋友时光》。突然，我想明白了。我不想失去工作，但最重要的是我不想失去永。我爱上他了。

[image: alt]


周一早上，我早早地就去上班了。我跟贾森的见面时间是10点钟。9点半的时候，永走进演播室。我准备跟他谈一谈，我爱他，而不是贾森。他得知道。

“永，我们需要谈谈。”我说。“是关于我和贾森的事。你不明白。”

“不，我明白，费伊。这跟我没任何关系。算了吧。”他说。然后，他就离开了房间。我想哭。“我必须告诉他真相！”我想。于是我写了张便条给他：

你难道不明白吗？我爱你，永——不是贾森！

——爱你的费伊

可我最终还是没把便条给永。我做不到，我觉得那样做很蠢。

突然，我看了下自己的表。现在是10点钟——我见贾森的时间！我把便条留在自己的桌上，跑向贾森的办公室。我敲了贾森的房门，等待着。我感觉糟透了。

“进来吧，费伊。”我听到里面的人说，但那不是贾森的声音，是一个女人。我走进房间，看见里面有两个人——贾森和他的上司，埃米·杰克逊。

“坐吧，费伊。”埃米说。贾森什么也没说。“我要丢掉工作了。”我想。

“费伊，周六播出的新版《朋友时光》节目非常棒。”埃米说道。“听众很喜欢，我们想让你做同样的节目——专做家庭以及家庭问题的节目——每天播出。与你这份新工作相适应，你的薪水也有所增加。”

贾森想笑，但他没笑出来。

“下个月贾森要调到第十演播室。”埃米说。“所以你可以用他在这层的办公室。永也可以着手办一档新节目了。他已做好了准备。请转告他这个消息。他可以今天下午来找我谈谈这事儿。”

我离开了贾森的办公室。我为这档节目感到高兴，还为永感到高兴。我想告诉他这个好消息。我在自己的办公室里找到了他——他的脸上挂着盈盈的笑意。

“费伊，你为什么以前都不告诉我呢？”他说。他把我抱在怀里，吻了我。

“你指的是什么呀？”我大笑道。“你知道我们新的工作安排了？”

“新的工作安排？不！别犯傻了。我在桌上发现了你的便条，我看过了。我也爱你，费伊。”我回吻了他。
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那是一个月以前的事了。如今我的新节目每天都会播出。听众喜爱《朋友时光》。很多有意思的人给我打电话。他们要找失去的朋友和家人。第五演播室里的情况也有所不同了。我这些日子没跟永一起工作。他有了一档新的节目。我在工作时间从未见过他，但没关系——因为他现在是我的男友了。而且我和永，我们俩真的非常幸福。
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Meet me in the coffee shop at 10 o’clock. We heed to talk.
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From: jasonhill@sunradio.com
To: fayfriend@sunradio.com

Sent: Thursday 10 November
Subject: Me Again!

Dear Fay,

Anew a).. .. from me. We must talk about your b)... .. ..on
Monday morning. Shakira! James Blunt! It's ¢).................. boring listening to
Asmasmmensaess @l I ithestime:

€) .................. Five needs something more interesting than this!
Fromyourf)............

Jason
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